
189

References

Abdo, N., and S. Almasri (2020). For a Decade of Hope Not Austerity in the Middle East and North Africa. Oxfam 

International. 

Abdul-Hamid, H., and others (2018). Lebanon Education Public Expenditure Review 2017. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.

Ablo, E., and R. Reinikka (1998). Do Budgets Really Matter? Evidence on Public Spending on Education and Health in 

Uganda. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper No. 1926. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.

Abdih, Y., and others (2010). The Cyclicality of Fiscal Policy in the Middle East and Central Asia: Is the Current Crisis 

Different? IMF Working Paper No. 10/68. Available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_

id=1578666/. 

Abu-Ismail, K. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 on Money Metric Poverty in Arab Countries. Beirut: ESCWA. Available 

at https://archive.unescwa.org/sites/www.unescwa.org/files/publications/files/impact-covid-19-money-metric-

poverty-arab-countries-english.pdf.

Afonso, A., and V. Tanzi (2010). Public Sector Efficiency: Evidence for New EU Member States and Emerging 

Markets. Applied Economics, vol. 42, Issue 17, pp. 2147-2164.

Agasisti, T. (2014). How Does Schools’ Efficiency Look Like Across Europe? An Empirical Analysis of Germany, Spain, 

France, Italy and UK Using OECD PISA2012 Data (No. 9). Working paper 9. Società Italiana di Economia Pubblica.

Al-Ajlouni, R., and A. Al Rabayah (2020). Will Jordan Be Closer to UHC After the COVID-19 Pandemic? Journal of 

Global Health, vol. 10, Issue 2.

AlAzzawi, S. (2021). Lives versus Livelihoods: The Covid-19 Pandemic and Labour Markets in Arab Countries. UNDP 

RBAS Working Paper Series.

Albino-War, M. A., and others (2014). Making the Most of Public Investment in MENA and CCA Oil-Exporting 

Countries. Washington, D.C.: IMF.

Alesina, A., G. Tabellini, and F. R. Campante (2008). Why Is Fiscal Policy Often Procyclical? Journal of the European 

Economic Association, vol. 6, No. 5, pp. 1006-1036. Available at https://www.jstor.org/stable/40283091.

Altshuler, C., and N. Sarangi (2021). Enhancing Social Expenditure and Fiscal Sustainability in the Context of 

Fostering Inclusive and Sustainable Development. E/ESCWA/CL3.SEP/2021/3/TP.5.

Alvaredo, F., L. Assouad, and T. Piketty (2018a). Inequality in the Middle East. WID.world working paper series N° 

2017/15 Available at https://wid.world/document/alvaredoassouadpiketty-middleeast-widworldwp201715/.

__________ (2018b). Measuring lnequality in the Middle East 1990-2016: The World’s Most Unequal Region? The Review 

of Income and Wealth, vol. 65, Issue 4, pp. 685-711. 

Analysis for Economic Decisions (AED) (2014). Evolution PEFA et rapport d’analyse des performances du système de 

GFP en République Islamique de Mauritanie. Final report. Available at www.pefa.org/node/1286.

Antonelli, M. A., and V. De Bonis (2018). Assessing the Performance of Social Spending in Europe. Central European 

Journal of Public Policy, vol. 12, Issue 1, pp. 17-31.



190

Social Expenditure Monitor for Arab States

Armstrong, E. (2005). Integrity, Transparency and Accountability in Public Administration: Recent Trends, Regional and 

International Developments and Emerging Issues. New York: UNDESA.

Atkinson, A. B. (1995). The Welfare State and Economic Performance. National Tax Journal, vol. 48, No. 2, pp. 171-198. 

Available at https://www.jstor.org/stable/41789136.

El Attaq, A. (2021). Over 62 Billion Dirhams for Education and Preschool Learning in Morocco. Morocco World News, 

November 5. Available at www.moroccoworldnews.com/2021/11/345364/over-62-billion-dirhams-for-education-

and-preschool-learning-in-morocco.

El-Badawi, I., and R. Soto (2011). Fiscal Regimes in and Outside the MENA Region. Economic Research Forum, 

Working Paper No. 654. Available at https://erf.org.eg/publications/fiscal-regimes-outside-mena-region/?tab=und

efined&c=undefined.

Bahrain (2018). The Kingdom of Bahrain First Voluntary National Review on the Implementation of the 2030 

Agenda for Sustainable Development and the Sustainable Development Goals. Available at https://

sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/2132920181231_Bahrain_VNR_English_translation.pdf.

Baldacci, E., and others (2004). Social Spending, Human Capital, and Growth in Developing Countries: Implications 

for Achieving the MDGs. IMF Working Paper WP/04/217. Washington, D.C.: IMF.

Bampatsou, C., S. Papadopoulos, and E. Zervas (2013). Technical Efficiency of Economic Systems of EU-15 Countries 

Based on Energy Consumption. Energy Policy, vol. 55, pp. 426-434.

Barro, R. J. (1990). Government Spending in a Simple Model of Endogenous Growth. Journal for Political Economy, 

vol. 95, Issue S5, pp. 103-105. Available at http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:3451296.

Bellettini, G., and C. Berti Ceroni (2000). Social Security Expenditure and Economic Growth: An Empirical 

Assessment. Research in Economics, vol. 54, Issue 3, pp. 249-275. Available at Available at https://www.

sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S109094430090231X.

Benamar, J., and A. Malik (2021). Public Social Spending, Human Capital, and Social Justice in the Arab World: A Case 

Study of Jordan and Tunisia. E/ESCWA/CL3.SEP/2021/3/TP.7. Beirut: ESCWA. 

Bhanumurthy, N. R., and N. K. Mohanty (2018). Assessing Public Expenditure Efficiency at Indian States. NIFPF 

Working paper series. New Delhi. Available at https://www.nipfp.org.in/media/medialibrary/2018/03/

WP_2018_225.pdf.

Bird, N. (2015). Climate Finance and Public Finance Management. GSDRC Professional Development Reading Pack 

no. 16. Birmingham, United Kingdom: University of Birmingham.

Blanchard, O. (2019). Public Debt and Low Interest Rates. American Economic Review, vol. 109, Issue 4, pp. 1197-1229. 

Boustany, I., S. Hatem, and T. Salameh (2022). Assessing PFM Systems Across the Arab States [unpublished report]. 

Cangiano, M., T. R. Curristine, and M. Lazare (2013). Public Financial Management and Its Emerging Architecture. 

Washington, D.C.: IMF.

Cammeraat, E. (2020). The Relationship Between Different Social Expenditure Schemes and Poverty, Inequality 

and Economic Growth. International Social Security Review, vol. 73, Issue 2, pp. 101-123. Available at https://

onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/issr.12236.

Central Agency for Public Mobilization and Statistics (CAPMAS) (2020). On the Occasion of International Day for the 



191

Eradication of Poverty 2020: 88.5% of Egyptian Families Are Under the Umbrella of Food Support System. Press 

release. Cairo. Available at https://www.capmas.gov.eg/Admin/News/PressRelease/2020101791919_poverty_e.pdf. 

Chetty, U. J., and others (2016). The Role of Primary Care in Improving Health Equity: Report of a Workshop Held by 

the WONCA Health Equity Special Interest Group at the 2015 WONCA Europe Conference in Istanbul, Turkey. 

International Journal for Equity in Health, 15th Edition, SP. 128.

Cockburn, J., and others (2014). Enhancing Equity for Children in the Context of the Reform of Energy Subsidies in 

Egypt. Cairo: Ministry of Finance and UNICEF.

Collaborative African Budget Reform Initiative (CABRI) (n.d.). Agreement Establishing the Collaborative Africa 

Budget Reform Initiative. Available at https://www.cabri-sbo.org/uploads/files/CABRI-International-Agreement-

Publication.pdf. 

Cui, Q., and Y. Li (2015). An Empirical Study on the Influencing Factors of Transportation Carbon Efficiency: Evidences 

from Fifteen Countries. Applied Energy, vol. 141, pp. 209-217.

Debrun, X., and others (2019). Public Debt Sustainability. Discussion paper. Centre for Economic Policy Research. 

Dees, M. (2020). Accruals in the Public Sector Are Here to Stay! Pursuing a Productive Debate. New York: International 

Federation of Accountants.

Devarajan, S., V. Swaroop, and H. Zou (1996). The Composition of Public Expenditure and Economic Growth. Journal 

of Monetary Economics, vol. 37, Issue 2, pp. 313-344.

De Witte, K., and L. López-Torres (2017). Efficiency in Education: A Review of Literature and a Way Forward. Journal of 

the Operational Research Society, vol. 68, Issue 4, pp. 339-363.

Diwan, I., and T. Akin (2015). Fifty Years of Fiscal Policy in the Arab Region. Economic Research Forum Working Paper. 

Available at https://erf.org.eg/publications/fifty-years-of-fiscal-policy-in-the-arab-region/?tab=undefined&c=undefined.

Djankov, S., and others (2016). How Large Is Public Procurement in Developing Countries? Peterson Institute for 

International Economics.

Drummond, M. F. (1989). Output Measurement for Resource Allocation Decisions in Health Care. Oxford Review of 

Economic Policy, vol. 5, Issue 1 HEALTH (Spring), pp. 59-74. 

Dudine, P., and J. T. Jalles (2017). How Buoyant Is the Tax System? New Evidence from a Large Heterogenous Panel. 

Working paper. Washington, D.C.: IMF.

Duran, D., and R. Menon (2020). Mitigating the Impact of COVID-19 and Strengthening Health Systems in the Middle 

East and North Africa. Policy note. Washington, D.C.: World Bank. Available at https://openknowledge.worldbank.

org/handle/10986/34238.

Earth Data (n.d.). Environmental Performance Index (EPI). 

Economic and Social Commission for Western Asia (ESCWA) (n.d.a). Social Expenditure Monitor dashboard. Beirut.

__________ (n.d.b). Arab SMEs Portal. Beirut. Available at https://smeportal.unescwa.org/#gsc.tab=0. 

__________ (n.d.c). Emerging Issues: Social Justice. Arab Digital Inclusion Platform. 

__________ (2013a). Integrated Social Policy Report V: Towards a New Welfare Mix? Rethinking the Role of the State, the 

Market and Civil Society in the Provision of Social Protection and Social Services. E/ESCWA/SDD/2013/1. Beirut. 



192

Social Expenditure Monitor for Arab States

__________ (2013b). Inter-Regional Report on Labour Migration and Social Protection. E/ESCWA/SDD/2013/Technical 

paper.2. Beirut.

__________ (2014a). Arab Middle Class: Measurement and Role in Driving Change. Beirut. Available at https://archive.

unescwa.org/publications/arab-middle-class-measurement-role-change.

__________ (2014b). Beyond Governance and Conflict: Measuring the impact of the neighborhood effect in the Arab 

region. Beirut.

__________ (2014c). Tunis Declaration. Issued at the 28th Ministerial Session. Available at https://archive.unescwa.org/

information/news/escwa-28th-ministerial-session-wraps-tunis-declaration-noteworthy-outcome.

__________ (2014d). Social justice in the policies of Arab states: intergenerational justice and access to natural 

resources. Beirut. 

__________ (2015). Arab Development Outlook: Vision 2030. Beirut. Available at https://www.unescwa.org/sites/default/

files/pubs/pdf/arab-development-outlook-vision-2030-english_0.pdf.

__________ (2017a). Rethinking Fiscal Policy for the Arab Region. Beirut. Available at www.unescwa.org/sites/default/

files/pubs/pdf/rethinking-fiscal-policy-arab-region-english_1.pdf.

__________ (2017b). Social Housing in the Arab Region: An Overview of Policies for Low-Income Households’ Access 

to Adequate Housing. Beirut. Available at https://archive.unescwa.org/sites/www.unescwa.org/files/page_

attachments/social-housing-arab-region-en.pdf.

__________ (2017c). The Arab Financing for Development Scorecard: Domestic and international private business and 

finance. E/ESCWA/EDID/2017/IG.2/5(Part III). Beirut. Available at https://www.unescwa.org/sites/default/files/

event/materials/the_arab_financing_for_development_scorecard_domestic_and_international_private_business_

and_finance.pdf.

__________ (2018). The State of Financing Development in the Arab Region 2018. E/ESCWA/EDID/2018/TP.2. Beirut.

__________ (2019a). Rethinking Inequality in Arab Countries. Beirut. Available at https://www.unescwa.org/sites/

default/files/pubs/pdf/rethinking-inequality-arab-countries-english.pdf.

__________ (2019b). Fiscal Policy Review of Arab States 2019. Beirut. Available at www.unescwa.org/publications/

fiscal-policy-review-arab-states-2019. 

__________ (2019c). Social Expenditure Monitor for Arab States: A Tool to Support Budgeting and Fiscal Policy Reform. 

E/ESCWA/EC.6/2019/8/Rev.1. Beirut. Available at https://www.unescwa.org/sites/default/files/pubs/pdf/social_

expenditure_monitor_for_arab_states_eng.pdf.

__________ (2019d). Social Protection Reform in Arab Countries. Beirut.

__________ (2020a). Arab Sustainable Development Report 2020. Beirut. Available at https://asdr.unescwa.org/. 

__________ (2020b). Limited Fiscal Space Puts the Arab Region Recovery from COVID-19 at Risk. E/ESCWA/2020/Policy 

Brief.13. Beirut.

__________ (2020c). Assessment of Statistics in Arab States for the Social Expenditure Monitor. 

__________ (2020d). Increasing Debt Burden Adversely Impacts Social Expenditure and Human Rights. ESCWA note. Beirut.

__________ (2020e). Wealth Inequality and Closing the Poverty Gap in Arab Countries: the Case for a Solidarity Wealth 



193

Tax https://archive.unescwa.org/sites/www.unescwa.org/files/publications/files/wealth-inequality-closing-

poverty-gap-arab-countries-english_0.pdf

__________ (2021a). Liquidity Shortage and Debt: Obstacle to Inclusive Recovery in the Arab Region. Policy brief. Beirut.

__________ (2021b). Social Expenditure and Gender Equality in the Arab Region. Beirut.

__________ (2021c). System-wide Annual Results Report for the Arab Region: As Delivered Through the UN 

Development System. Beirut. Available at https://unsdg.un.org/sites/default/files/2021-05/System%20Wide%20

Annual%20Results%20Report%20for%20the%20Arab%20Region%202020.pdf.

__________ (2022). Realities and Prospects: Survey of Economic and Social Developments in the Arab Region 2020-2021. 

Beirut. Available at https://www.unescwa.org/publications/survey-economic-social-developments-arab-region.

ESCWA and others (2017). Arab Climate Change Assessment Report: Main Report. E/ESCWA/SDPD/2017/RICCAR/

Report. Beirut. Available at https://www.unescwa.org/sites/default/files/event/materials/riccar_main_

report_2017_0.pdf.

Egypt and United Nations Children’s Fund (UNICEF) (2020). Spotlight on Children in the 2019/2020 Budget. Budget 

Transparency Series.

Egypt, Ministry of Finance (n. d). State General Budget. Available at https://mof.gov.eg/en/.

Egypt, Ministry of Planning and Economic Development (2021). Egypt’s 2021 Voluntary National Review. Available at 

https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/279512021_VNR_Report_Egypt.pdf. 

Evans, D., and others (2000). The Comparative Efficiency of National Health Systems in Producing Health: An Analysis 

of 191 Countries. Global Programme on Evidence for Health Policy Discussion Paper No. 29. WHO. Available at 

https://pages.stern.nyu.edu/~wgreene/Statistics/Sicko/WHO-DALE-Study-29.pdf.

Filmer, D., and L. Pritchett (1999). The Impact of Public Spending on Health: Does Money Matter? Social Science & 

Medicine, vol. 49, No. 10, pp. 1309-1323. Available at https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10509822/.

Fund for Peace (2021). Fragile States Index Annual Report. Washington, D.C.

Gaska, J., and others (2021). Efficiency of Public Social Expenditures in the Arab States: Decomposition of Efficiency 

and Policy Implications. Beirut: ESCWA.

Gertler, P., and others (2014). Labour Market Returns to an Early Stimulation Intervention in Jamaica. Science, vol. 

344, No. 6187, pp. 998-1001. Available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4574862/.

Gonguet, F., and others (2021). Climate-Sensitive Management of Public Finances – “Green PFM”. IMF Staff Climate 

Note No. 2021:002. Available at https://0-doi-org.library.svsu.edu/10.5089/9781513583044.066.

Greene, W. (2004). Distinguishing Between Heterogeneity and Inefficiency: Stochastic Frontier Analysis of the World Health 

Organization’s Panel Data on National Health Care Systems. Health Economics, vol. 13, Issue 10, pp. 959-980.

Grigoli, F. (2014). A Hybrid Approach to Estimating the Efficiency of Public Spending on Education in Emerging and 

Developing Economies. IMF Working Paper WP/14/19. Washington, D.C.: IMF.

Gupta, S., M. Verhoeven, and E. R. Tiongson (2003). Public Spending on Health Care and the Poor. Journal of Health 

Economics, vol. 12, No. 8, pp. 685-696. Available at https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12898665/.

Gurazada, S. (2019). Strong Public Financial Management Systems as the Nuts and Bolts for Universal Health 



194

Social Expenditure Monitor for Arab States

Coverage 2030. World Bank Blogs, January. 

Haile, F., and M. Niño-Zarazúa (2018). Does Social Spending Improve Welfare in Low-income and Middle-income 

Countries? Journal of International Development, vol. 30, Issue 3, pp. 367-398. Available at https://onlinelibrary.

wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/jid.3326#:~:text=Our%20results%20support%20the%20proposition,income%20

and%20middle%2Dincome%20countries.

Hatim, Y. (2020). Preschool Education to Become Compulsory in Morocco. Morocco World News, December 29. Available 

at www.moroccoworldnews.com/2020/12/330039/preschool-education-to-become-compulsory-in-morocco.

Hauner, D., and A. Kyobe (2010). Determinants of Government Efficiency. World Development, vol. 38, Issue 11, pp. 

1527-1542.

Heckman, J. (2008). The Case for Investing in Disadvantaged Young Children. Ifo Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung an 

der Universität München, vol. 6, Issue 2, pp. 3-8. Available at https://www.econstor.eu/handle/10419/166932.

__________ (2017). Four Big Benefits of Investing in Early Childhood Development: The Heckman Equation. Available at 

https://heckmanequation.org/www/assets/2017/01/F_Heckman_FourBenefitsInvestingECDevelopment_022615.pdf.

Hill, P. S., and others (2014). The ‘Empty Void’ Is a Crowded Space: Health Service Provision at the Margins of Fragile 

and Conflict Affected States. Conflict and Health, vol. 8, Issue 1, pp. 1-10.

Hlasny, V. (2021). Social Assistance Programmes and Individuals’ Wellbeing in Egypt. Beirut: ESCWA.

Hoang, V. N., and M. Alauddin (2011). Analysis of Agricultural Sustainability: A Review of Exergy Methodologies and 

Their Application in OECD Countries. International Journal of Energy Research, vol. 35, Issue 6, pp. 459-476.

Institute for Economics and Peace (2021). Economic Value of Peace 2021: Measuring the Global Economic Impact of 

Violence and Conflict. Sydney.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2022). Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and 

Vulnerability. Working Group II Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on 

Climate Change. Available at https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGII_FinalDraft_

FullReport.pdf.

International Budget Partnership (2019). Open Budget Survey 2019. Available at www.internationalbudget.org/sites/

default/files/2020-04/2019_Report_EN.pdf.

International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) (2020). 2020 Financial Reporting Basis. Available at www.ifac.org/what-

we-do/global-impact-map/accountability.

__________ (2021). Global Impact Map: Public Sector Financial Accountability Index. Available at www.ifac.org/what-

we-do/global-impact-map/accountability.

IFAC, and Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) (2021). International Public Sector Financial 

Accountability Index: 2020. Available at https://www.ifac.org/what-we-do/global-impact-map/accountability.

International Labour Organization (ILO) (n.d.a). Unemployment by Sex and Age, ILO Modelled Estimates. ILOSTAT. 

Available at https://ilostat.ilo.org/data/data-catalogue/# (accessed November 2021).

__________ (n.d.b). World Social Protection Data Dashboards. Available at https://www.social-protection.org/gimi/

WSPDB.action?id=32.

__________ (2021). World Social Protection Report 2020-22: Regional Companion Report for the Middle East and North 



195

Africa Region. Geneva: ILO. 

International Monetary Fund (IMF) (n.d.). Fiscal Risk Toolkit. Available at https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/fiscal-policies/

Fiscal-Risks/Fiscal-Risks-Toolkit?sc_mode=1.

__________ (2018). World Economic and Financial Survey. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2019a). Government Finance Statistics. Available at https://data.imf.org/?sk=388dfa60-1d26-4ade-b505-

a05a558d9a42.

__________ (2019b). Fiscal Policy and Development: Human, Social, and Physical Investments for the SDGs. Staff 

Discussion Notes No. 2019/003. Washington, D.C. 

__________ (2019c). Public Investment Management Assessment (PIMA): Strengthening Infrastructure Governance. 

Fiscal Affairs. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2019d). Enhancing the Role of SMEs in the Arab World – Some Key Considerations. Washington, D.C. 

Available at https://www.imf.org/~/media/Files/Publications/PP/2019/PPEA2019040.ashx#:~:text=Increasing%20

SMEs’%20access%20to%20finance,the%20Arab%20World%20by%202025.

__________ (2020a). Social Spending for Inclusive Growth in the Middle East and Central Asia. Middle East and 

Central Asia Department. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2020b). Regional Economic Outlook Update. Washington, D.C. Available at www.imf.org/en/Publications/

REO/MECA/%20Issues/2020/07/13/regional-economic-outlook-update-menap-cca#report.

__________ (2020c). World Economic Outlook Database. Washington, D.C. Available at www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/

weo/2017/01/weodata/index.aspx. Accessed June 2020.

__________ (2020d). Government Finance Statistics Database. Washington, D.C. Available at https://data.imf.

org/?sk=a0867067-d23c-4ebc-ad23-d3b015045405. 

__________ (2021a). A Post Pandemic Assessment of the Sustainable Development Goals: Background Notes. Fiscal 

Affairs Department. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2021b). IMF Lending. Factsheet. Available at https://www.imf.org/en/About/Factsheets/IMF-Lending. 

__________ (2021c). Economic Governance Reforms to Support Inclusive Growth in the Middle East, North Africa, and 

Central Asia. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2021d). Regional Economic Outlook. April.

__________ (2021e). IMF Discussion Note: A Post-Pandemic Assessment of the Sustainable Development Goals. 

Washington, D.C. 

__________ (2021f). IMF Lending Commitments. Washington, D.C. Available at www.imf.org/external/np/fin/tad/

extarr11.aspx?memberKey1=ZZZZ&date1key=2025-12-31.

__________ (2021g). World Social Protection Data Dashboard. Available at www.social-protection.org/gimi/WSPDB.

action?id=19. 

__________ (2021h). World Economic Outlook Database. Available at https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/SPROLLs/

world-economic-outlook-databases#sort=%40imfdate%20descending.



196

Social Expenditure Monitor for Arab States

__________ (2021i). World Economic Outlook. Washington D.C.

__________ (2022). Regional Economic Outlook: Middle East and Central Asia. Available at https://www.imf.org/en/

Publications/REO/MECA/Issues/2022/04/25/regional-economic-outlook-april-2022-middle-east-central-asia. 

International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA) (2016). Renewable Energy in the Arab Region: Overview 

Developments. Abu-Dhabi. Available at https://www.irena.org/publications/2016/Dec/Renewable-Energy-in-the-

Arab-Region-Overview-of-developments.

International Social Security Association (2020). COVID-19 Crisis: A Renewed Attention to Sickness Benefits. Available 

at https://ww1.issa.int/analysis/covid-19-crisis-renewed-attention-sickness-benefits. 

International Telecommunication Union (ITU) DataHub (n.d.). Individuals Using the Internet in the Arab States. 

Available at https://datahub.itu.int/data/?i=11624&e=3.

Investopedia (n.d.). Middle East and North Africa. Available at www.investopedia.com/terms/m/middle-east-and-

north-africa-mena.asp.

Iraq, Ministry of Finance, (n.d.). Budget Department. Available at http://www.mof.gov.iq/Pages/MainMOF.aspx.

Jack, A., and J. Wheatley (2020). World Bank Piles Pressure on Private Creditors for EM Debt Relief. Financial Times, 

September 16. Available at www.ft.com/content/e57f8164-02fb-46e7-abfb-519ed10cb030.

Jafarov, E., and V. Gunnarsson (2008). Government Spending on Health Care and Education in Croatia: Efficiency and 

Reform Options. IMF Working Paper WP/08/136. Washington, D.C.

Jawad, R. (2015). Social Protection and Social Policy Systems in the MENA Region: Emerging Trends. New York: 

UNDESA. Available at https://www.un.org/esa/socdev/csocd/2016/RJawad-MENA.pdf.

Jordan, General Budget Department (n. d). General Budget Law. Available at http://gbd.gov.jo/en/releases/law-min. 

Kaufmann, D., A. Kraay, and P. Zoido (1999). Governance Matters. Available at https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.

cfm?abstract_id=188568.

Khan, H., and O. Bashar (2015). Social Expenditure and Economic Growth: Evidence from Australia and New Zealand 

Using Cointegration and Causality Tests. The Journal of Developing Areas, vol. 49, No. 4, pp. 285-300. Available 

at https://www.jstor.org/stable/24737383.

Kharas, H., and M. Dooley (2020). Sustainable Development Finance Proposals for the Global COVID-19 Response. 

Working paper. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution.

El-Kogali, S., and C. Krafft (2015). Expanding Opportunities for the Next Generation: Early Childhood Development in 

the Middle East and North Africa. Washington, D.C.: World Bank. 

Kraay, A. (2019). The World Bank Human Capital Index: A Guide. World Bank Research Observer, vol. 34, Issue 1, pp. 

1-33. Available at https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/34343.

Kuwait, Supreme Council for Planning and Development (2019). Kuwait Voluntary National Review 2019. Report on 

the Implementation of the 2030 Agenda to the UN High-Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development. 

Available at https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/23384Kuwait_VNR_FINAL.PDF. 

Lebanon, Ministry of Finance (n.d.). Annual Budget Documents and Process. Available at http://www.finance.gov.lb/

en-us/Finance/BI/ABDP.

https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/REO/MECA/Issues/2022/04/25/regional-economic-outlook-april-2022-middle-east-central-asia. 
https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/REO/MECA/Issues/2022/04/25/regional-economic-outlook-april-2022-middle-east-central-asia. 


197

Lebanon, National Committee for SDGs and the Presidency of the Council of Ministers (2018). Lebanon Voluntary 

National Review on Sustainable Development Goals. Beirut. Available at https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/

content/documents/19624LebanonVNR2018.pdf.

Lemarchand, G. (2021). Toolkit for Completing the GOàSPIN Surveys: Guidelines for the preparation of the inventory 

of SETI operational policy instruments; inventory of the SETI legal instruments; and inventory of SETI 

institutional ecosystem. UNESCO Working Paper 2021-02. Paris: UNESCO. 

Lokpe, N., E. Mampassi-nsika, and J. Perreault (2020). Evaluation de la performance de la gestion des finances 

publiques de la Mauritanie selon la methodologie PEFA 2016. Final report. Available at www.pefa.org/node/3666.

Lovell, C. (1993). Production Frontiers and Productive Efficiency. The Measurement of Productive Efficiency: 

Techniques and Applications, vol. 3, Issue 67.

Magnacor Mfg (2021). Theory of Constraints: Contrasting Theory of Constraints and Lean Manufacturing. Available at 

https://magnacormfg.com/contrasting-theory-of-constraints/.

Makuta, I., and B. O’Hare (2015). Quality of Governance, Public Spending on Health and Health Status in Sub-Saharan 

Africa: A Panel Data Regression Analysis. BMC Public Health, vol. 15, Issue 1, pp. 1-11.

Malik, A. (2014). A Requiem for the Arab Development Model. Journal of International Affairs, Fall/Winter, pp. 93-115. 

Available at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/270903962_A_Requiem_for_the_Arab_Development_Model.

__________ (2016). The Political Economy of Macroeconomic Policy in Arab Resource-Rich Economies. Working Paper 

1034. Giza: The Economic Research Forum. Available at https://ideas.repec.org/p/erg/wpaper/1034.html.

Malik, A., and B. Awadallah (2013). The Economics of the Arab Spring. World Development, vol. 45(C), pp. 296-313.

Malyniak, B., O. Martyniuk, and O. Kyrylenko (2019). The Impact of Corruption on the Efficiency of Public Spending 

Across Countries with Different Levels of Democracy. Financial and Credit Activity: Problems of Theory and 

Practice, vol. 1, Issue 28, pp. 290-301.

Mandl, U., A. Dierx, and F. Ilzkovitz (2008). The Effectiveness and Efficiency of Public Spending. Directorate General 

Economic and Financial Affairs, European Commission. 

Manuel, M., and others (2018). Financing the End of Extreme Poverty. London: Overseas Development Institute. 

London. Available at https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/12411.pdf. 

McIntyre, D., F. Meheus, and J. A. Røttingen (2017). What Level of Domestic Government Health Expenditure Should 

We Aspire to for Universal Health Coverage? Journal of Health Economics, Policy and Law, vol. 2, Issue 2, April. 

Megersa, K. (2020). Subsidy Reforms: Lessons from the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) Region. K4D Helpdesk 

Report 749. Brighton, United Kingdom: Institute of Development Studies. Available at https://www.ids.ac.uk/

publications/subsidy-reforms-lessons-from-the-middle-east-and-north-africa-mena-region/.

Morocco, Ministry of Economy and Finance (n.d.). State Budget. Available at https://www.finances.gov.ma/en/

Activities/Pages/State-Budget.aspx.

Moummi, A. (2021). Fiscal Policy Incidence with Focus on Energy Subsidy in Tunisia: Impact on Poverty and Inequality 

Reduction. E/ESCWA/CL3.SEP/2021/3/TP.8. Beirut: ESCWA.

Moummi, A., and M. Bchir (2019). Assessing the Economic Implication of Energy Reform in the Arab Countries: The 

Case of Tunisia. Presented at the 22nd Annual Conference on Global Economic Analysis, Warsaw. Available at 



198

Social Expenditure Monitor for Arab States

https://www.gtap.agecon.purdue.edu/resources/res_display.asp?RecordID=5810.

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2010). Education at a Glance 2010: OECD 

Indicators. Paris. 

__________ (2014). Trends in Income Inequality and Its Impact on Economic Growth. Employment and Migration 

Working Papers. Paris. Available at www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/trends-in-income-

inequality-and-its-impact-on-economic-growth_5jxrjncwxv6j-en. 

__________ (2019a). Official Development Assistance (ODA), ODA by sector. Paris. Available at https://data.oecd.org/

oda/oda-by-sector.htm.

__________ (2019b). SOCX Manual 2019 Edition: A Guide to the OECD Social Expenditure Database. Paris.

__________ (2020). Evaluating the Initial Impact of COVID-19 Containment Measures on Economic Activity. Paris. 

Available at www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/evaluating-the-initial-impact-of-covid-19-containment-

measures-on-economic-activity-b1f6b68b/.

__________ (2021a). Closing the SDG Financing Gap in the COVID-19 Era. Paris. 

__________ (2021b). Global Outlook on Financing for Sustainable Development 2021: A New Way to Invest for People 

and Planet. Paris. Available at https://doi.org/10.1787/e3c30a9a-en. 

OECD, World Health Organization (WHO) and Eurostat (2011). A System of Health Accounts: 2011 Edition. Paris: OECD 

Publishing. Available at https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264116016-en.

Oliver, A., and E. Mossialos (2004). Equity of Access to Health Care: Outlining the Foundations for Action. Journal of 

Epidemiology and Community Health, vol. 58, Issue 8, pp. 655-658.

Oman, Ministry of Finance (n.d.). Yearly Budget. Available at https://www.mof.gov.om/YearlyBudget.

Patel, D., and J. Sandefur (2020). A Rosetta Stone for Human Capital. Center for Global Development, Working Paper 

550, September. 

Planning and Statistics Authority (2021). Qatar Voluntary National Review 2021: Report on the Implementation of 

the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Available at https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/

documents/280362021_VNR_Report_Qatar_English.pdf.

Popova, D. (2021). Strengthening the Evidence on the Correlation Between Fiscal Equity and Social Outcomes for 

Children. Research note. New York: UNICEF. Available at https://www.unicef.org/media/104506/file/Fiscal%20

Equity%20and%20Social%20Outcomes%20for%20Children.pdf.

Pritchett, L. (1996). Mind Your P’s and Q’s: The Cost of Public Investment Is Not the Value of Public Capital. Available at 

https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=620621.

Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability (PEFA) (n.d.a). 2016 Framework Assessments. Available at https://

www.pefa.org/countries-regions.

__________ (n.d.b). 2011 Framework Assessments.

__________ (2011). Public Financial Management Performance Measurement Framework. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2016). Framework for Assessing Public Financial Management. Washington, D.C.



199

__________ (2017). Iraq: Performance Assessment Report, 2016 Framework. Final report. Available at www.pefa.org/

node/466.

__________ (2018). Stocktake of PFM Diagnostic Tools 2016. Available at www.pefa.org/resources/stocktake-pfm-

diagnostic-tools-2016.

__________ (2020a). Global Report on Public Financial Management. Available at www.pefa.org/global-report-

2020/?current=/sites/default/files/assessments/reports/PK-Sindh-Sep09-PFMPR-SN-Public.pdf.

__________ (2020b). Guidance For SNG PEFA Assessments: Service Delivery Module. Washington, D.C. Available at 

www.pefa.org/sites/pefa/files/resources/downloads/Service%20Delivery%20Module_Piloting%20Oct_2020_0.pdf.

Rajkumar, A. S., and V. Swaroop (2002). Public Spending and Outcomes: Does Governance Matter? Washington, D.C.: 

World Bank Group.

__________ (2008). Public Spending and Outcomes: Does governance matter? Journal of Development Economics, 

vol. 86, Issue 1, pp. 96-111. Available at https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0304387807000697.

Rame, X., and J. Seiwald (2019). Gender Responsive Budgeting in METAC Countries. Regional note. Middle East 

Regional Technical Assistance Center. 

Robinson, T., and others (2021). Analyzing the Link Between PFM System Strength and Public Investment 

Performance. PEFA Research Paper Series.

Sachs, J., and others (2021). Sustainable Development Report 2021: The Decade of Action for the Sustainable 

Development Goals. New York: Cambridge University Press. 

Sahurie, E. S., and others (2011). Jordan: Repeat Public Financial Management Assessment Following the PEFA 

Methodology. Final report. Available at www.pefa.org/node/1926.

Sala-i-Martin, X. (1992). A Positive Theory of Social Security. Journal of Economic Growth, vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 277-304. 

Available at https://www.jstor.org/stable/40215918.

Sarangi, N. (2020). Fiscal Policy Response to Public Debt and Debt Sustainability in Arab States. Working paper. 

Beirut: ESCWA.

Sarangi, N., and D. Griswold (2020). Debt Swap for Climate and SDGs Finance in the Arab Region. Technical Paper. 

Beirut: ESCWA. 

Sarangi, N., and J. von Bonin (2017). Fiscal Policy on Public Social Spending and Human Development in Arab 

Countries. E/ESCWA/EDID/2017/Technical paper.13. Beirut: ESCWA. Available at https://archive.unescwa.

org/sites/www.unescwa.org/files/page_attachments/fiscal_policy_on_public_social_spending_and_human_

development_in_arab_countries_0.pdf.

Sarangi, N., N. Bhanumurthy, and K. Abu-Ismail (2015). Effectiveness of Fiscal Policy in Jordan: Impact on Growth, 

Poverty and Inequality. E/ESCWA/EDID/2015/WP.8. Beirut: ESCWA.

Sarangi, N., and others (2021). Public Social Expenditure Landscape in Arab States: Concept, Measure and Trends. E/

ESCWA/CL3.SEP/2021/3/TP.3. Beirut.

Saudi Arabia (2018). Toward Saudi Arabia’s Sustainable Tomorrow: 1st Voluntary National Review of Kingdom of Saudi 

Arabia. Available at https://arabsdgs.unescwa.org/en/read-digital-library-collaborate-voluntary-national-reports-

arab-vnrs/towards-saudi-arabias.



200

Social Expenditure Monitor for Arab States

El-Shennawi, N., and L. Gamal Eddine (2021). Social Expenditure and Digitization in the Arab Region. Beirut: ESCWA.

Shuftan, C., A. van der Veen, and P. Lothe (2003). Evaluation of ECHO’s 1999 to 2002 Funded Actions in Sudan. An 

Evaluation Prepared for the European Commission Humanitarian Office (ECHO). Available at https://ec.europa.

eu/echo/files/evaluation/2003/sudan_synthesis.pdf.

Silva, J., V. Levin, and M. Morgandi (2013). Inclusion and Resilience: The Way Forward for Social Safety Nets in 

the Middle East and North Africa. Washington, D.C.: World Bank Group. Available at https://openknowledge.

worldbank.org/handle/10986/14064.

Stenberg, K., and others (2019). Guide Posts for Investment in Primary Health Care and Projected Resource Needs in 

67 Low-Income and Middle-Income Countries: A Modelling Study. The Lancet Global Health, vol. 7, No. 11, pp. 

1500-1510. Available at https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31564629/.

Stiglitz, J., and H. Rashid (2020). Averting Catastrophic Debt Crises in Developing Countries: Extraordinary Challenges 

Call for Extraordinary Measures. CEPR Policy Insight No. 104. July. 

The Sudan, Ministry of Finance and Economic Planning (n.d.). Budget Files. Available at http://mof.gov.sd/en/index.php.

Sueyoshi, T., Y. Yuan, and M. Goto (2017). A Literature Study for DEA Applied to Energy and Environment. Energy 

Economics, vol. 62, pp. 104-124.

Sun, D., and others (2017). Evaluation of the Performance of National Health Systems in 2004-2011: An Analysis of 173 

Countries. PLOS ONE 12(3): e0173346.

Talaat, W. (2018). The Targeting Effectiveness of Egypt’s Food Subsidy Programme: Reaching the Poor? International 

Social Security Review, vol. 71, Issue 2, pp. 103-123.

Tommasi, D. (2013). The Core PFM Functions and PEFA Performance Indicators. Background paper. Available at 

www.pefa.org/sites/pefa/files/resources/downloads/v1-The_Core_PFM_Functions_and_PEFA_Performance_

Indicators__paper_2_%28Tommassi__January_2013%29_1.pdf.

Tunisia, Ministry of Finance (n.d.). Finance Law. Available at http://www.finances.gov.tn/fr.

United Nations (n.d.). COVID-19 Stimulus Tracker. Global Observatory on Social Protection and Economic Responses. 

Data from 2020 through mid-2021. Available at https://tracker.unescwa.org/. 

__________ (2015). Transforming Our World: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. General Assembly 

resolution 70/1, September 25. 

__________ (2020a). Debt and COVID-19: A Global Response in Solidarity. New York. Available at www.un-ilibrary.org/

content/papers/27082245/4. 

__________ (2020b). Liquidity and Debt Solutions to Invest in the SDGs: The Time to Act is Now. Secretary-General’s 

Policy Brief. New York.

__________ (2020c). Financing for Development in the Era of COVID-19 and Beyond: Menu of Options for the 

Consideration of Heads of State and Government. New York.

__________ (2020d). World Economic Situation and Prospects as of Mid-2020. www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/

publication/world-economic-situation-and-prospects-as-of-mid-2020/. 

__________ (2021a). COVID-19 Social Protection and Economic Policy Responses of Governments: Lessons for Social 

Protection Readiness and Building Forward Better. Global policy brief. Available at https://tracker.unescwa.



201

org/External/Global-Policy-Brief-COVID-19%20Stimulus%20Tracker_Social-Protection-And-Economic-Policy-

Responses-Of-Governments.pdf.

__________ (2021b). Financing for Sustainable Development Report. New York. Available at https://

developmentfinance.un.org/fsdr2021.

__________ (2021c). The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2021. New York.

__________ (2021d). World Telecommunication/ICT Indicators Database 2021. Twenty-fifth edition, July. Available at 

www.itu.int/en/Pages/default.aspx.

United Nations Children’s Fund (UNICEF) (2019). Budget Brief 2019: Public Education Sector in Jordan. Amman.

__________ (2021). Spotlight on Children in the 2020/21 and 2021/22 Budget. Available at https://www.unicef.org/

egypt/media/7541/file/spotlight%20on%20children%20transparency%20brief%202021.pdf.

UNICEF Middle East and North Africa Office (MENARO) (2015). Equity, Educational Access and Learning Outcomes in 

the Middle East and North Africa. Amman. Available at https://www.unicef.org/mena/reports/equity-educational-

access-and-learning-outcomes-mena.

UNICEF MENARO, and International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth (IPC-IG) (2018). Overview of Non-contributory 

Social Protection Programmes in the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) Region Through a Child and Equity 

Lens. Amman. Available at https://ipcig.org/pub/eng/JP18_Overview_of_Non_contributory_Social_Protection_

Programmers_in_MENA.pdf. 

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) (2014). World Investment Report 2014: Investing in 

the SDGs: An Action Plan. New York and Geneva. 

__________ (2015). United Nations General Assembly Adopts Basic Principles on Sovereign Debt Restructuring. Available 

at https://unctad.org/news/united-nations-general-assembly-adopts-basic-principles-sovereign-debt-restructuring.

__________ (2019). World Investment Report 2019: Special Economic Zones. New York. 

United Nations Department for Economic and Social Affairs (UNDESA) (2018). World Economic Forecasting Model 

(WEFM) 2018. New York. Available at https://www.un.org/development/desa/dpad/world-economic-forecasting-

model-wefm-2018.html. 

__________ (2019). Total Population – Both Sexes. World Population Prospects 2019. Available at https://population.

un.org/wpp/Download/Standard/Population/.

__________ (2021a). The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2021. New York. Available at https://unstats.un.org/

sdgs/report/2021/. 

__________ (2021b). Extreme Poverty in the Time of COVID-19. May. New York.

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) (1990). Human Development Report. New York.

__________ (2011). Arab Development Challenges Report 2011: Towards the Developmental State in the Arab Region. Cairo. 

__________ (2016). Arab Human Development Report 2016: Youth and the Prospects for Human Development in a 

Changing Reality. New York. 

__________ (2020a). Debt Sustainability in the Arab Region: A Review of Existing Frameworks in Light of Emerging 

Debt Challenges. RBAS Working Paper Series. 



202

Social Expenditure Monitor for Arab States

__________ (2020b). Human Development Report 2020. New York. Available at https://hdr.undp.org/system/files/

documents//hdr2020pdf.pdf. 

__________ (2021a). Social Protection Systems and the Response to COVID-19 in the Arab region. RBAS Working 

Papers Series. New York. 

__________ (2021b). Lives versus Livelihoods: The COVID-19 Pandemic and Labour Markets in Arab Countries. UNDP 

RBAS Working Paper Series.

__________ (2021c). Social protection in fragile and conflict-affected countries in the Arab region and the Covid-19 

response. In Oxford handbook on social protection in the global south: systems and pandemic responses, Anis 

Ben Brik, eds. 

__________ (2022). Arab Human Development Report 2022: Expanding Opportunities for an Inclusive and Resilient 

Recovery in the Post-Covid Era. New York. Available at https://www.undp.org/arab-states/publications/arab-

human-development-report-2022-expanding-opportunities-inclusive-and-resilient-recovery-post-covid-era# 

UNDP Sustainable Finance Hub (n.d.). UNDP Accelerating Finance for the SDGs and COVID-19 Recovery. Available at 

https://sdgfinance.undp.org/.

UNDP, and UNICEF (2018). Overview of Non-contributory Social Protection Programmes in the Middle East and North 

Africa (MENA) Region Through a Child and Equity Lens. Brasilia and Amman. 

__________ (2021). Lives versus Livelihoods: The Covid-19 Pandemic and Labour Markets in Arab Countries. UNDP 

RBAS Working Paper Series.

United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) (2011). International Standard 

Classification of Education (ISCED). Institute of Statistics. Available at http://uis.unesco.org/en/topic/

international-standard-classification-education-isced. 

__________ (2015). Education 2030: Incheon Declaration and Framework for Action for the Implementation of 

Sustainable Development Goal 4: Ensure Inclusive and Equitable Quality Education and Promote Lifelong 

Learning Opportunities for All. World Education Forum, May, Incheon. 

__________ (2020). School Enrollment, Secondary, Private. Paris: Institute for Statistics. http://data.uis.unesco.org/. 

__________ (2021). Right to Pre-primary Education: A Global Study. Paris. Available at https://unesdoc.unesco.org/

ark:/48223/pf0000375332.

United Nations Issue-based Coalition on Social Protection (2020). Social Protection Responses to the COVID-19 Crisis 

in the MENA/Arab States Region. Available at https://www.ilo.org/beirut/publications/WCMS_756764/lang--en/

index.htm.

United Nations Sustainable Development Group (2020a). The Impact of COVID-19 on the Arab Region: An Opportunity 

to Build Back Better. Policy Brief. Available at https://unsdg.un.org/resources/policy-brief-impact-covid-19-arab-

region-opportunity-build-back-better. 

Verme, P., and A. Araar (eds.) (2017). The Quest for Subsidies Reforms in the Middle East and North Africa Region: A 

Microsimulation Approach to Policy Making. Washington, D.C.: World Bank Group. 

Wang, T-F., D-W. Song, and K. Cullinane (2003). Container Port Production Efficiency: A Comparative Study of DEA and 

FDH Approaches. Journal of the East Asia Society for Transportation Studies, vol. 5, Issue 1, pp. 698-713. 



203

Wendling, Z. A., and others (2020). The 2020 Environmental Performance Index. Yale Center for Environmental Law & 

Policy. Available at https://epi.yale.edu//. 

Wiggins, J., and others (2017). Public Financial Management Assessment Following the 2016 PEFA Methodology. 

Draft report. Available at www.pefa.org/node/581.

World Bank (n.d.a). World Bank Country and Lending Groups: Country Classification. Available at https://

datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519-world-bank-country-and-lending-groups.

__________ (n.d.b). Education Statistics (EdStat). Available at https://datatopics.worldbank.org/education/.

__________ (n.d.c). World Development Indicators. Available at https://databank.worldbank.org/reports.

aspx?source=world-development-indicators. 

__________ (n.d.d). Atlas of Social Protection Indicators of Resilience and Equity (ASPIRE).

__________ (n.d.e). Poverty and Inequality Platform. Available at https://pip.worldbank.org/home. 

__________ (2008). Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability Assessment. Washington, D.C.: Social and 

Development Group Middle East and North Africa Region. Available at www.pefa.org/node/2836.

__________ (2010a). Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability: Public Financial Management Performance 

Assessment Report for Kuwait. Report No. 54978-KW. Washington, D.C.: Social and Development Group Middle 

East and North Africa Region. Available at www.pefa.org/node/2141.

__________ (2010b). Sudan: Country Integrated Fiduciary Assessment (CIFA) 2005-2007. Washington, D.C.: Financial 

Management and Procurement Groups Africa Region. Available at www.pefa.org/node/1876.

__________ (2013). West Bank and Gaza: Public Expenditure and Financial Accountability. Washington, DC. http://hdl.

handle.net/10986/15939/.

__________ (2016a). Evaluation de la performance sur la gestion des finances publiques dans l’Union des Comores. 

Final report. Available at www.pefa.org/node/721.

__________ (2016b). Mauritania Public Expenditure Review: Surfing the Wave – Public Spending During the 

Commodity Super-cycle and Beyond. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2016c). Public Expenditure Review of the Palestinian Authority: Towards Enhanced Public Finance 

Management and Improved Fiscal Sustainability. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2016d). Rapport sur la performance de la gestion des finances publiques (PEFA). Final report. Available at 

www.pefa.org/node/596.

__________ (2017a). Somalia Security and Justice Public Expenditure Review. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2017b). Comoros Public Expenditure and Fiscal Management Review. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2017c). Lebanon Education Public Expenditure Review. Washington: D.C.

__________ (2018). Final Report of the PEFA Assessment for West Bank and Gaza. Available at www.pefa.org/node/171.

__________ (2020). Tunisia Public Expenditure Review: A New Pact for the Transition – Modernizing the State for Better 

and Fairer Public Spending. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2021a). Addressing the Human Capital Crisis: A Public Expenditure Review for Human Development 



204

Social Expenditure Monitor for Arab States

Sectors in Iraq. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2021b). Supreme Audit Institutions Independence Index: 2021 Global Synthesis Report. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2021c). Iraq Human Development Public Expenditure Review: Addressing the Human Capital Crisis – A 

Public Expenditure Review for Human Development Sectors in Iraq. Washington, D.C.

__________ (2021d). COVID-19: Debt Service Suspension Initiative. Available at www.worldbank.org/en/topic/debt/

brief/covid-19-debt-service-suspension-initiative. 

__________ (2021e). The Human Capital Index 2020 Update: Human Capital in the Time of COVID-19. Washington, D.C.

World Bank, and African Development Bank (2020). Tunisia Public Expenditure Review: A New Pact for the Transition – 

Modernizing the State for Better and Fairer Public Spending. Washington, D.C.

World Bank, and European Union (2009). Public Financial Management Performance Report (PEFA): Assessment of 

Public Financial Management Systems, Procedures and Institutions. Available at www.pefa.org/node/2846.

World Bank, European Union, and African Development Bank Group (2010). Performance de la gestion des finances 

publiques en Tunisie. Final report. Available at https://www.pefa.org/node/2491.

World Health Organization (WHO) (n.d.a). Global Health Expenditure Database. Available at https://apps.who.int/nha/

database.

__________ (n.d.b). Health Equity Monitor Database. Available at www.who.int/data/gho/health-equity/health-equity-

monitor-database. 

__________ (n.d.c). Global Health Observatory Database. Available at https://apps.who.int/gho/data/view.main.947485.

__________ (2010). Constraints to Scaling Up the Health Millennium Development Goals: Costing and Financial Gap 

Analysis. Geneva: World Health Organization Taskforce on Innovative International Financing for Health Systems.

__________ (2014). Strategy for Universal Access to Health and Universal Health Coverage. Washington, D.C.: WHO 

Regional Committee for the Americas.

Wong, S. T., and others (2014). Development of Health Equity Indicators in Primary Health Care Organisations using a 

Modified Delphi. PLOS ONE 9, SP.12. 


